RECEIVED

Jul 23 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY  
Circuit Court

Martha M. Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002347

---

Bettis C. Rainsford, Sr. and Greg W. Anderson, ..... Appellants,

v.

Edgefield Civic League, Beth Thornton,  
George Thornton, J. Douglas Timmerman, Jr.,  
Rebecca Turner, Beth Cali, and Patsy Smith, ..... Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

Bettis C. Rainsford, Sr., *Pro Se*  
P.O. Box 388  
Edgefield, SC 29824  
(803) 384-0013  
[brainsford@rainsforddevelopment.com](mailto:brainsford@rainsforddevelopment.com)

Greg W. Anderson, Esq., *Pro Se*

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) The trial judge wrongly dismissed the Complaint because she incorrectly thought that the doctrine of public importance standing applies only to cases that involve *de jure* governmental defendants.
- 2) The trial judge wrongly dismissed the Complaint because she misconstrued it as not alleging facts which showed that the matter involved a *de facto* governmental defendant or “public body” and its board members, thereby making the case subject to the doctrine of public importance standing.
- 3) The trial judge wrongly dismissed the Complaint because she incorrectly thought that it is not a matter of public importance for there to be, as alleged in the Complaint: (1) the funneling of hundreds of thousands of dollars over decades to an entity to provide government services and receive public property, and (2) the subsequent transfer of that property without consideration to a private organization in secret and in a manner that involved a conflict of interest by the person who was president of both organizations.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 27, 2024, Appellants, Bettis C. Rainsford, Sr. and Greg W. Anderson, a member of the South Carolina bar, brought this suit against the Edgefield Civic League (“ECL”) and certain members of its board of directors alleging *inter alia* breach of fiduciary duty. (R. pp. 7-45).

On February 27, 2025 the Respondents moved to dismiss, arguing that the Appellants lacked standing to file a lawsuit against the Respondents because the Respondent ECL was a non-profit entity – not a government entity. (R. pp. 46-47).

A hearing was held on July 7, 2025 at the Edgefield County Courthouse with the Honorable Martha M. Rivers presiding. (R. pp. 112-141). The Court issued its order on July 29, 2025 concluding that the plaintiffs lacked standing. (R. pp. 1-3).

The Appellants timely filed a motion on August 8, 2025 for the court to reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 105-111). On November 4, 2025 the court denied the motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 4-6).

The only monetary damages being sought are “monetary damages as determined by the Court.” (R. p. 24).

The Appellants then timely filed this appeal on November 18, 2025. (R. pp. 142-144).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The trial court dismissed the Appellants’ action for lack of standing under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF. This dismissal is appealable. *Williams v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2<sup>nd</sup> at 500. On review, the Court of Appeals applies the same standard of review that was implemented by the trial court. *Id.* In determining whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the Court of Appeals must consider whether the Complaint, viewed in light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 358 S.C. at 388, 596 S.E.2d 42 (2004). *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 515, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009). “The trial court and this Court on appeal must presume all well pled facts to be true.” *Morrow Crane Co. v. T.R. Tucker Construction Co.* 296 S.C. 427, 429, 373 S.E.2d 701, 702 (Ct. App. 1988). Pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Further a judgment on the pleadings is considered a drastic measure by our courts.” *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991). The Complaint should not be

dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 395, 645 S.E2d 248. Most importantly, since standing is treated as a legal question, not a factual one, it shall receive *de novo* review by the Court of Appeals. The appellate court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.

## FACTS

In an unprecedented and deeply troubling action, the directors of the Edgefield Civic League (“the ECL”), a South Carolina non-profit corporation, which had subsisted almost entirely on public funding for thirty years, thus becoming a quasi-public organization, approved a document titled “Settlement and Release of All Claims,” effectively conveying nearly all contents of the Tompkins Library to the Old Edgefield District Genealogy Society (“OEDGS”), a strictly private non-profit organization which had never had any public funding. The collections have already been removed, leaving two largely empty buildings where a historic institution once stood. This extraordinary event necessitated the present action.

The Appellants are exactly the type of citizens the public importance doctrine exists to empower. They are long-time Edgefield residents with a sustained record of involvement in the preservation, oversight, and lawful stewardship of the very public assets implicated in this case. As detailed in the Complaint (R. pp. 8-9, ¶¶ 1-4), they have spent years working to preserve the county’s historical institutions, especially the Tompkins Library. Their motivations are civic rather than personal; their interest is the integrity of public or quasi-public institutions, not private gain. The questions they raise – concerning fiduciary duty, transparency, and the proper governance of an entity which has subsisted almost entirely on public funding for thirty years and holding assets of public significance – are precisely the type that require judicial resolution for future guidance and justify standing under the Supreme Court’s public importance doctrine.

This case is about the Respondents' very negligent management of the Tompkins Library, a very important institution in the Town of Edgefield which was founded more than a century ago, when an Edgefield native and Southern industrialist left a bequest to the Town of Edgefield for the purpose of establishing a library. The ECL was chartered in 1928 by the South Carolina Secretary of State for the purpose of acquiring a building for the library on the Court House Square with the proceeds of the Tompkins bequest. By 1985 the Tompkins Library had evolved into a genealogical and historical library. In that same year, the Old Edgefield District Genealogical Society ("the OEDGS") was founded as a separate organization to work with the ECL in developing the historical and genealogical collections. Over the next nearly forty years hundreds of donors contributed substantial amounts of historical and genealogical materials to the Tompkins Library.

Sometime after 1990, the Town of Edgefield and Edgefield County began to provide ongoing operational funding for the Tompkins Library, with approximately \$500,000 in public funds being channeled through the ECL for the director's salary and utilities over the ensuing thirty years. The Town and County councils clearly conceived of the Tompkins Library as a public, or quasi-public, institution, with substantially all of the operating costs of the library being borne by public funds.

Within just a few years after public funding was committed, friction began to develop between the ECL and the OEDGS. Indeed, by 1994, this friction had blown up to the point that both the councils of Edgefield County and the Town of Edgefield, which had only several years before committed to provide operational funding for the Tompkins Library, had been drawn into the controversy between the two organizations. Finally, under threat from both the County and Town Councils that they would cease their funding for the Tompkins Library, an arbitration

committee of the County, the Town, the ECL and the OEDGS reached an agreement, dated June 5, 1994, under which the two organizations agreed to cooperate. (R. pp. 32-34).

During the period from 1994 to 2021, much progress was made in developing the Tompkins Library. Significant physical improvements were made to the buildings, thousands of books and documents were contributed to the library and thousands of files of families, places and subjects were developed, primarily by the efforts of the director of the library who was paid by public funds. Many volunteers also donated thousands of hours of their time to building this institution.

As a result of all of this hard work and dedication over many decades, the Tompkins Library had acquired a reputation as one of the finest historical and genealogical libraries in the nation. People from all over the nation and a number of foreign countries visited Edgefield each year doing historical and genealogical research. This activity of the Tompkins Library was a major boon for the local Edgefield economy, particularly for the restaurants, bed & breakfasts, hotel and specialty retailers.

Beginning in late 2021, renewed friction began to develop between the Respondent, J. Douglas Timmerman, Jr., who had been the longtime president of both the ECL and the OEDGS, and the other members of the board of the OEDGS. As a result of his desire to control the OEDGS, Mr. Timmerman unilaterally added, in violation of the provisions of ECL's By-Laws, a number of new members to the board of the ECL who were not properly briefed on the history, mission, structure and operations of the Tompkins Library. They were given to understand that the OEDGS board members were adversaries, and that they, as board members of the ECL, had the power and responsibility to dominate and dictate terms under which the OEDGS operated in the Tompkins Library. This petty attitude resulted in a number of very high-handed and poorly-considered

actions by the newly-constituted board of the ECL. The dual presidency of Timmerman at both organizations created an inherent conflict of interest between the two organizations, and he clearly failed to perform his fiduciary duties.

Beginning in January 2022, the ECL, acting through its president, the Respondent Timmerman, unilaterally issued a series of purported “Commercial Lease Agreements” to the OEDGS. (R. pp. 35-39; R. pp. 40-45). Timmerman’s role in this action clearly constituted a violation of his fiduciary duty. These leases demanded that the OEDGS pay rent to the ECL, in direct violation of the binding 1994 Agreement. The OEDGS was informed, in no uncertain terms, that it must either execute the proposed leases or vacate the premises. When the OEDGS refused to sign the lease agreements, officers of the OEDGS were charged with trespass and escorted out of the building by the Edgefield police. Subsequently, the ECL had the locks on the building changed to ensure that the OEDGS board members could no longer access the building. When the OEDGS board members demanded their right to remove what they claimed to be their property, the ECL arrogantly refused to allow them to take anything away.

The OEDGS board then decided to find another location from which to operate. Various options were considered, but they ultimately chose to locate in a building in Johnston owned by the Town of Johnston which had offered to upfit the building for the OEDGS. That work on the building is now complete and the OEDGS has moved into its new home.

In the interim, the OEDGS filed suit seeking entry to retrieve the property it claimed to own. Over the next eighteen months, the ECL board failed to hold public meetings, failed to consult donors or the community, failed to provide evidence to their attorneys and in depositions to support their defense in the OEDGS suit, and failed to provide any transparency to the public regarding the litigation.

Without public notice, without presenting any meaningful defenses in the litigation (which was readily available as fully set forth in paragraph 52 of the Complaint) (R. p. 21-22, ¶ 52), and without so much as requesting that the matter be heard in open court, the ECL board abruptly capitulated and executed the Settlement Agreement, transferring substantially all of the quasi-public collections to the OEDGS, a private company. Many of these materials were donated to the ECL decades before the OEDGS even existed, including important and valuable newspaper files contributed to the ECL in 1928. Donors had entrusted these materials to the ECL with the expectation that they would remain in the Tompkins Library on the Edgefield Town Square for public benefit. No inventory of assets transferred was released to the public, no public debate occurred, and no explanation was given for the board's sudden reversal of the decades of cooperative practice it had enjoyed with the OEDGS.

The Settlement Agreement also contains a sweeping confidentiality clause designed to prevent disclosure of its terms to the public, to hide the ineptness and transgressions of the fiduciary duties of the board members and to keep from public view the extreme conflict of interest exercised by Timmerman who occupied the presidency of both organizations. This confidentiality clause underscores the board's desire to conceal its actions and avoid public accountability. The public is now confronted with two empty buildings where a nationally-recognized research institution once stood, and no explanation has been provided for the loss of nearly a century's worth of historical and genealogical materials.

Astoundingly, the Settlement Agreement also provided for a payment to the OEDGS of \$30,000. This \$30,000 cash payment, combined with approximately \$500,000 in public funding from the Town and County of Edgefield paid over thirty years (which constituted the vast majority of the ECL's revenue over the period) clearly makes this an issue of public importance.

Given the ECL's abandonment of its mission, its disregard for its founder donor's intent and the intent of subsequent donors, its failure to protect the interests of the intended beneficiaries, its failure to protect the assets entrusted to it, and its lack of transparency, the Appellants have brought this action to uncover the truth, protect the public interest, and remedy the serious breaches of fiduciary duty committed by the Respondents. The Appellants further allege that the cumulative conduct of certain board members constitutes a clear breach of the fiduciary duties imposed upon them under South Carolina law.

The Respondents moved to dismiss the action on the ground that the Appellants lacked standing. In response, the Appellants demonstrated that they fall squarely within South Carolina's long-recognized "public importance" exception to traditional standing articulated in *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519 (1999) and confirmed in many subsequent cases.

Despite this extensive and controlling body of law, the trial court granted the motion to dismiss without addressing, analyzing, or even acknowledging the Appellants' arguments concerning the public importance doctrine. The order contains no discussion of *Baird*, no reference to the line of cases applying the doctrine, and no explanation for disregarding the only legal basis upon which standing was contested. It simply states that "The court finds that because these are private organizations, it is inappropriate to apply the law of taxpayer standing." (R. p. 2). The omission of discussing the case law presented is not merely an oversight – it is an error of law.

The Appellants filed a timely motion asking the court to reconsider its ruling. Yet, in denying that motion, the trial court again failed to address the public importance exception, failed to cite a single case governing the doctrine, and failed to articulate any reasoning for rejecting the Appellants' standing argument. The court's silence on the dispositive legal issue – twice –

constitutes a textbook error of law. A court cannot dismiss a case for lack of standing while simultaneously refusing to consider the very doctrine that confers standing.

This omission is not harmless. It deprived the Appellants of a ruling grounded in law, deprived the public of judicial review of a matter of profound community importance, and deprived the appellate courts of a reasoned order capable of meaningful review. Under South Carolina precedent, such a failure requires reversal.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT SHOULD BE READ IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE PLAINTIFFS AND PRESUME ALL WELL-PLED FACTS TO BE TRUE.**

South Carolina law requires courts to accept all well-pleaded allegations as true at the Rule 12 stage and to construe them liberally in favor of the plaintiff. Yet, in its order, the court below stated “In his argument, [Appellant] asserted the location of the library items substantially increased tourism and was a benefit to all citizens in the city. Unfortunately, plaintiff’s accounts were anecdotal only.” (R. p. 2). Although the court dismissed Appellant’s allegation, characterizing it as “anecdotal only,” there is no doubt that through discovery Appellant would, and will, be able to provide a tremendous amount of data to back up this assertion. (R. p. 2). Thus, the court did not read the Appellant’s allegations in a light most favorable to the Appellant and did not presume all well-pled facts to be true as required by law. In addition, the court apparently *sua sponte* converted the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. This was error, as well.

### **II. BY DECLINING TO CONSIDER THE SUBSTANTIAL ARGUMENTS SUBMITTED BY THE APPELLANTS, THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION.**

South Carolina appellate courts have long held that a trial court commits reversible error when it fails to exercise its discretion or fails to consider the factors necessary to an informed decision. See, e.g., *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 658 S.E.2d 80 (2008) (“A failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of discretion.”); *State v. Brown*, 389 S.C. 473, 698 S.E.2d 811 (2010) (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge fails to consider the relevant factors before making a decision.”). By declining to engage the controlling doctrine that governs the standing analysis, the trial court did not merely misapply the law – it failed to apply the law at all.

### III. THE APPELLANTS HAVE STANDING BASED UPON THE PUBLIC IMPORTANCE EXCEPTION.

The Appellants have standing under South Carolina’s long-recognized public importance exception, first articulated in *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519 (1999), and reaffirmed in *Evins v. Richland County Historic Preservation Commission*, 341 S.C. 15 (2000); *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431 (2004); *Davis v. Richland County Council*, 372 S.C. 497 (2007); *ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston County*, 380 S.C. 191 (2008); *SC Public Interest Foundation v. SCDOT*, 421 S.C. 110 (2017); *Adams v. McMaster*, 432 S.C. 225 (2020); and *Eidson v. SCDE* (2024). No longer is a litigant required to have a personal stake in the outcome of the litigation. Under this doctrine, standing exists when (1) the issue is of substantial public importance, and (2) judicial resolution is required for future guidance. Both prongs are overwhelmingly satisfied here.

#### A. SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

The Tompkins Library has served the public for nearly a century, and was supported almost entirely by public funding over the last thirty years. This library was founded by a bequest in 1914 and contained valuable collections which were donated for public benefit by hundreds of donors.

The ECL's decision to transfer nearly the entire collection to OEDGS – much of it donated decades before OEDGS existed – constitutes the loss of a very valuable and historically-significant community asset. The transfer was executed without public notice, without hearings, without transparency, and under a sweeping confidentiality clause designed to conceal the disposition of these assets and the ineptitude and violations of the fiduciary duties of the ECL board members. Since the ECL's board is self-perpetuating, with no membership and no elections, there is no mechanism for public accountability. Under the cases cited below, these factors place the matter squarely within the realm of public importance.

In the landmark case of *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2<sup>nd</sup> 69 (1999), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated that “standing may be conferred upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolutions for future guidance.” No longer is a litigant required to have a personal stake in the outcome of the litigation. The public importance rule set forth in *Baird* is not isolated to the facts of that case. On the contrary, it has been applied in over 100 cases since 1999, almost invariably used to support and enhance this type of standing.

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