RECEIVED

Jul 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Martha M. Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002347

Bettis C. Rainsford, Sr., and Greg W. Anderson Appellants,

v.

Edgefield Civic League, Beth Thornton, George Thornton, J. Douglas Timmerman, Jr.,
Rebecca Turner, Beth Cali, and Patsy Smith.. Respondents.

Of whom Bettis C. Rainsford, Sr., and Greg W. Anderson are the Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS EDGEFIELD CIVIC LEAGUE, BETH THORNTON,
GEORGE THORNTON, J. DOUGLAS TIMMERMAN, JR., REBECCA TURNER, BETH
CALI AND PATSY SMITH

John B. Kelchner, S.C. Bar No. 13589

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

B. There is no need for future guidance.

“[A] court may confer standing upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.” *Baird*, 333 S.C. 519, 531, 511 S.E.2d 69, 75 (1999) (citing *Thompson v. South Carolina Comm’n on Alcohol and Drug Abuse*, 267 S.C. 463, 229 S.E.2d 718 (1976), *Berry v. Zahler*, 220 S.C. 86, 66 S.E.2d 459 (1951), *Ashmore v. Greater Greenville Sewer Dist.*, 211 S.C. 77, 44 S.E.2d 88 (1947) (same); *cf. Quinn v. City of Columbia*, 303 S.C. 405, 401 S.E.2d 165 (1991)). “The key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance. It is this concept of “future guidance” that gives meaning to an issue which transcends a purely private matter and rises to the level of public importance.” *ATC South*, 380 S.C. at 199, 669 S.E.2d at 341 (2008) (citing *Baird*, 333 S.C. at 531,

511 S.E.2d at 75.) Under *ATC South*, the matter of importance must be “inextricably connected to the public need for court resolution for future guidance”. *Id.*, 380 S.C. at 199, 669 S.E.2d 341.

This standard is not met here. This case presents ordinary breach of fiduciary duty and corporate governance disputes between two private entities that could be brought by parties with traditional standing. The issues Appellants identify—fiduciary duties of non-profit directors, conflicts of interest, confidentiality clauses, and donor restrictions—are well-established areas of corporate and non-profit law that courts routinely adjudicate in private litigation brought by proper parties such as the Attorney General, members, or donors with direct standing. The existence of S.C. Code § 33-31-842 itself demonstrates that the legislature has already addressed the conflict-of-interest issue Appellants raise, and that statute provides its own enforcement mechanisms. The fact that these issues “may recur” does not satisfy the future guidance prong; virtually any legal dispute could be framed as having future implications.

Appellants’ invocation of the *Adams v. McMaster* four-factor test mischaracterizes both the facts and the legal standard. In *Adams*, the factors to determine whether future guidance is needed is whether the case “involves the conduct of government entities and the expenditure of public funds, a prompt decision is necessary, and it is likely the situation will occur in the future”. *Adams v. McMaster*, 432 S.C. 225, 236, 851 S.E.2d 703, 708 (2020). Those factors were satisfied in *Adams* because the case directly involved the legality of government conduct by a sitting governor and the expenditure of public funds by a government official—circumstances fundamentally different from a dispute between two private non-profit corporations. Appellants’ characterization of the ECL as a ‘quasi-public entity’ is a legal conclusion unsupported by the pleadings. The ECL is a privately chartered non-profit corporation, and labeling it ‘quasi-public’ does not make it so. With respect to urgency, the library’s contents have already been transferred

pursuant to a settlement agreement in prior litigation, meaning there is no emergent situation that requires immediate judicial intervention through these Appellants. As to recurrence, the specific factual circumstances of this case—a century-old library, a particular arbitration agreement, and a specific settlement—are highly idiosyncratic and unlikely to recur in a form that would benefit from this Court’s guidance. The *Adams* factors, properly applied, do not support extending the public importance exception to private non-profit governance disputes.

This Court has repeatedly cautioned against the casual use of the doctrine. “The linchpin of the public importance exception is the need for future guidance. In ascertaining the parameters of such need, while noting that the framework is not inflexible, we have repeatedly cautioned against its routine use.” *Vicary v. Town of Awendaw*, 425 S.C. 350, 359, 822 S.E.2d 600, 604 (2018). Many private disputes may disappoint the public, but that alone does not create standing: “[T]here are a lot of private entities that have disputes. The results disappoint the public, but that is not—” a basis for standing. (R. p. 138.) Appellants are essentially asking this Court to create an unprecedented expansion of public-importance standing to reach private settlements between private nonprofits—a step no South Carolina court has taken. This Court should decline that invitation and affirm.

C. The Public Importance Exception does not apply to individual current or former members of the League.

Even if *Baird* applied to the League, which it does not, it would not create a cause of action against the individual board member Respondents. None of the cases cited involve individual persons serving as board members of a private, non-profit corporation subject to the public importance exception to standing and no such case law or statutory authority exists for such a proposition. There is no language in the Appellants’ Brief distinctly applying the public-importance standing doctrine to “individual current or former members” as a distinct category.

Furthermore, Appellants fail to expressly argue that the doctrine applies separately to individual ECL members in their personal capacities.

IV. ARGUMENTS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Throughout their Response to the Motion to Dismiss, their Rule 59(e) Motion, and their Initial Brief before this Court, Appellants repeatedly allege facts and advance arguments that appear nowhere within the four corners of the Complaint. South Carolina law forecloses this approach.

“It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “[I]f the trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument and the appellant does not make a Rule 59(e) motion to preserve the issue, it is not preserved for appellate review.” *I’On*, 338 S.C. at 421-22, 526 S.E.2d at 724. These rules exist for good reason. “The purpose of issue preservation rules is to give the lower court a fair opportunity to rule on the issue and to avoid ‘appellate ambush.’” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Furthermore, a party “may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003); *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185-86, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995).

Measured against these settled principles, Appellants’ Initial Brief raises multiple theories and authorities that do not appear in the transcript of the July 7, 2025 hearing, were not raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court, and were not preserved via Rule 59(e) motion. These arguments should be excluded from appellate consideration.¹

¹ In the alternative, even if the Court reaches them, each fails on the merits, as addressed herein.

A. FOIA Public-Body Theory Under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20 and *Weston v. Carolina Research & Development Foundation*.

For the first time on appeal, Appellants argue that the League qualifies as a “public body” subject to the Freedom of Information Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20, citing *Weston v. Carolina Research & Development Foundation*, 303 S.C. 398, 401 S.E.2d 161 (1991). (App. Br. at 16). This theory does not appear anywhere in the Complaint, the hearing transcript or briefing. Respondents’ Reply noted that, in their Response to the Motion to Dismiss, Appellants cited no authority beyond public funding to support their claim that the League is a public entity. To the extent this theory was not raised in Appellants’ Response and ruled upon below, it is not preserved. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733.

Should the Court consider this argument, FOIA’s statutory definition of ‘public body’ is a legislative creation specific to that statute’s transparency and open-meetings purposes, and it cannot be judicially transplanted into the entirely separate common law doctrine of standing. Courts interpret statutes according to their specific purpose and context. The General Assembly’s decision to define “public body” broadly for FOIA purposes does not reflect a legislative judgment that such entities should be treated as governmental for all legal purposes, including standing doctrine. *Weston* addressed only whether FOIA’s disclosure requirements applied to a particular entity—it said nothing about standing to sue that entity.

In *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce*, 423 S.C. 295, 814 S.E.2d 513 (2018), the Supreme Court determined that Defendant Chamber of Commerce was not a public body within the statutory FOIA language. The Supreme Court stated “[w]e rejected the suggestion that the mere receipt or expenditure of public funds automatically and categorically transformed an otherwise private entity into a public body triggering the full panoply of FOIA requirements” in *Weston*. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC*, 423 S.C. at 305, 814

S.E.2d at 518 (2018). In *Domains*, the Court found that it was “not the situation found in *Weston* wherein the funds were intended to be given to a public body and, instead, were diverted to a private organization to be spent without oversight.” *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 306, 814 S.E.2d at 519.

Extending FOIA’s functional definition to the standing doctrine would create an unprincipled and sweeping expansion of public importance standing that the South Carolina Supreme Court has never endorsed. Moreover, if the ECL is subject to FOIA as Appellants implicitly suggest, then FOIA itself provides an existing legal mechanism for the transparency and accountability Appellants seek—undermining their argument that judicial resolution through this lawsuit is the only available remedy.

B. Senate Bill S-508 / Heritage Act Standing Proposal.

Appellants cite Senate Bill S-508 and the Heritage Act as support for standing. (App. Br. at 17). Proposed legislation that has not been enacted is not authority, and this argument was never raised to the circuit court, appears nowhere in the transcript, and was not asserted in the Rule 59(e) motion. It is therefore not preserved and should not be considered. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

In any event, Senate Bill S-508 actually undermines rather than supports Appellants’ position. The fact that the General Assembly found it necessary to pass legislation specifically extending standing to heritage organizations confirms that such standing does not currently exist under South Carolina common law without explicit legislative authorization. If the public importance exception already conferred standing as broadly as Appellants claim, no legislation would be needed. Moreover, S-508 creates a carefully defined category of ‘affinity organizations’ and ‘monument preservation organizations’—not a general grant of standing to any citizen with an interest in publicly-funded institutions. The bill’s targeted, legislative approach to expanding

standing in a specific context is the proper mechanism for such expansion, not judicial extension of a common law doctrine. This Court should not use a pending, unenacted bill as authority for a sweeping judicial expansion of standing doctrine that the legislature itself has not yet completed through the proper legislative process.

C. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-842 Conflict-of-Interest Argument.

Appellants argue that S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-842 imposes a fiduciary-duty or conflict-based theory supporting their standing. (App. Br. at 14). But while the Complaint references § 33-31-808 generally, Appellants did not present § 33-31-842 as a distinct basis for standing or reversal in the Complaint or at the hearing, and the circuit court did not rule on that theory. To the extent Appellants rely on that statutory provision as a new appellate ground, it is not preserved and should not be considered. *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694.

D. Summary-Judgment Conversion Argument.

Appellants contend the trial court improperly converted the Rule 12 motion into summary judgment by referencing that Appellants' tourism accounts were "anecdotal." (App. Br. at 9). This characterization misreads the Order. The court ruled on standing—a jurisdictional prerequisite—not on the merits. No witnesses were called and no exhibits were admitted. (R. p. 113.) The court's passing observation about the anecdotal nature of unsupported assertions addressed the legal insufficiency of Appellants' standing theory, not merits facts requiring Rule 56 treatment.

The argument is also unpreserved. If Appellants believed the trial court converted the motion, they were required to raise that contention in their Rule 59(e) motion. This Motion challenged the court's private-entity finding and revisited public-importance standing but did not clearly assert improper conversion to summary judgment. "[I]f the trial court does not explicitly

rule on an argument and the appellant does not make a Rule 59(e) motion to preserve the issue, it is not preserved.” *I’On*, 338 S.C. at 421-22, 526 S.E.2d at 724.

V. APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE ADDITIONAL ISSUES FOR APPEAL.

Beyond the newly raised theories identified in Section III above, Appellants failed to preserve their appellate claims in several additional respects.

A. Rainsford Presented No Opposition and Failed to Preserve Any Issue.

Appellant Rainsford was not present at the July 7, 2025 hearing and “did not present any independent filing or evidence to the court.” (R. p. 1.) He did not move for a continuance. (R. p. 115.) Respondents argued that “the fact that Mr. Rainsford is here and representing himself—is not here and representing himself is a concern” and that “at the very least, Your Honor, that the matter be dismissed as to him surely by a matter of default.” (R. pp. 114, 121.) Because Rainsford presented no argument to the trial court, he preserved nothing for appellate review. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733.

B. Appellants’ Broad Assertions Are Unsupported by the Record.

Appellants assert in their Initial Brief that there are “hundreds, if not thousands” of publicly funded nonprofits requiring appellate guidance and that the League “subsisted almost entirely” on public funds for thirty years. (App. Br. at various pages). These factual assertions were not supported by evidence at the motion hearing—no witnesses were called and no exhibits were admitted. (R.p. 113.) They constitute argument outside the record and should be disregarded.

At the hearing, the circuit court specifically asked Appellants whether they had “anything to show me as to that argument” regarding public benefit and importance. (R. p. 129.) Appellant Anderson responded with anecdotal accounts but conceded: “I don’t have those with me.” (R. p.

130.) The circuit court found the accounts were “anecdotal only.” (R. p. 2.) Appellants may not now supply on appeal the evidentiary support they failed to provide to the trial court.

C. New Allegations in the Response Brief Below Cannot Cure a Deficient Complaint.

As Respondents argued both in their Reply and at the hearing, Appellants attempted to supplement their deficient Complaint by introducing new factual allegations in their Response Brief below—including the specific \$400,000 funding figure and the assertion that the League is a “public entity.” (R. pp. 103–104, 136–137.) “In considering a motion to dismiss, the trial court must base its ruling solely on the allegations of the Complaint.” *Doe*, 373 S.C. at 395, 645 S.E.2d at 247 (S.C. 2007). Allegations first raised in a response memorandum are not part of the Complaint and cannot rescue it from dismissal.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court properly applied the standard of review pursuant to 12(b)(1) and did not abuse its discretion in ruling in favor of the Respondents. The Circuit Court correctly found that Appellants lacked public importance standing to bring claims against a private nonprofit corporation and its individual board members over a private settlement to which Appellants were not parties. Further, the Court should decline to consider arguments raised for the first time in Appellants’ Initial Brief that were not presented to or ruled upon by the Circuit Court and are therefore not preserved for appellate review.

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court affirm the circuit court’s July 29, 2025 Order of Dismissal in all respects.